**RECEIVED**

**May 30 2024**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

---

**APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS**

---

**Case No. 2023-001491**

---

**On Writ of Certiorari  
to the South Carolina Court of Appeals**

**John Doe, ..... Petitioner,**

**v.**

**Diocese of Charleston, a Corporation Sole, and The  
Bishop of the Diocese of Charleston, in his official  
capacity, ..... Respondents.**

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

**James B. Richardson, Jr.  
1620 Gervais Street  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 600-6375**

**Lawrence E. Richter, Jr.  
The Richter Firm, LLC  
622 Johnnie Dodds Blvd.  
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29644

## QUESTION PRESENTED

**Were charities immune from liability for intentional tort before the 1973 decision in *Jeffcoat v. Caine*, 261 S.C. 77, 198 S.E.2d 258?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner filed this action against the Diocese of Charleston and its Bishop alleging that as a child in 1970, he was sexually molested by teachers at the defendants' parochial school. Among the causes of action alleged in the complaint were those sounding in intentional tort.

The defendants moved for summary judgment in separate motions on several grounds, including the defense of common law charitable immunity. The circuit court heard argument on all the motions but decided only one, granting summary judgment upon the ground of charitable immunity.

Petitioner appealed. The court of appeals affirmed. *John Doe v. Diocese of Charleston*, 446 S.C. 640, 891 S.E.2d 522 (2023), and denied petitioner's motion to reconsider.

This Court granted the petition for a writ of certiorari.

## ARGUMENT

### **A charity has never been immune from the normal rules of liability for its commission of an intentional tort.**

Approving and following this Court's decision in *Jeffcoat v. Caine*, 261 S.C. 77, 198 S.E.2d 258 (1973), the Supreme Court of Maine noted:

Of the remaining states that retain some form of charitable immunity, no state has explicitly applied the doctrine to intentional torts.

*Picher v. Roman Catholic Bishop*, 974 A.2d 286, 295 (Me. 2009).<sup>1</sup> The Maine court concluded that "applying charitable immunity to intentional torts would set Maine so far outside the mainstream that it would put this State in a class by itself."

This decision of the court of appeals places South Carolina before 1973 in what the Maine court called a class by itself.

\* \* \* \* \*

When Justice (later Chief Justice) Woodrow Lewis spoke for the Court, the opinion was always clear and plain.<sup>2</sup> Justice Lewis began the Court's *Jeffcoat* opinion by identifying the limited scope of the Court's holding in *Lindler v. Columbia Hospital*, 98 S.C. 81, 81 S.E. 512 (1914), the first case granting negligence immunity.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> The New Jersey Supreme Court reached much the same conclusion:

[W]e have found no other jurisdiction that provides charitable immunity for intentional torts. . . . We are confident that if charitable immunity for intentional torts exists at all, it is rare . . . .

*Hardwicke v. American Boychoir School*, 902 A.2d 900, 918 (N.J. 2006).

<sup>2</sup> Chief Justice Lewis was among the last of the distinguished South Carolina lawyers and judges who read the law. He was the chief architect of the unified judicial system, which we take for granted today.

<sup>3</sup> Three Justices dissented in *Lindler*. Had the Court not been sitting *en banc*, South Carolina would have been among the many jurisdictions never to accept the immunity exception to normal rules of liability. Negligence immunity in South Carolina hung by a slender thread throughout its 67-year existence. Only a proper respect for *stare decisis* kept it alive for so long. As Justice Fraser, a dissenter in *Lindler*,

(continued...)

It is evident that the Court, in *Lindler*, did not intend to fashion a rule of complete exemption from tort liability; for it was careful to point out that the question of whether a charity “would be liable for negligence in the selection of its servants without due care [was] not before the court for consideration.”

*Jeffcoat*, 261 S.C. at 78, 198 S.E.2d at 259. The majority in *Lindler* explicitly limited its holding to negligence cases, and even then to only one category of negligence:

[I]t would be against public policy to hold a charitable institution responsible for the negligence of its servants, selected with due care.

*Lindler v. Columbia Hospital*, 98 S.C. 81, 81 S.E. 512, 513 (1914).<sup>4</sup>

Reviewing the Court’s post-*Lindler* immunity decisions one by one, Justice Lewis identified all previous expressions of immunity from “tort liability” as obiter dictum, not holding. Use of the word “tort” in prior opinions was never intended to — and could not — expand the *holdings*.<sup>5</sup>

This Court has often explained the difference between holding and dictum by quoting the words of the Great Chief Justice, as it did most recently four years ago:

*See Ex parte Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co.*, 248 S.C. 412, 418, 150 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1966) (“It is a maxim, not to be

---

<sup>3</sup>(...continued)  
remarked two years later in *Vermillion v. Women’s College*, 104 S.C. 197, 88 S.E. 649 (1916):

I concur, under the authority of the *Lindler* Case. By that case I am as much bound as if I had signed the majority opinion.

<sup>4</sup> The editors of West Publishing Company correctly assessed the holding in *Lindler* when they assigned it key numbers all in the category of “Charities . . . —Liability for *Negligence* of Servants”. (E.a.)

<sup>5</sup> The majority in *Lindler* had warned against mistaking dictum for holding:

Much confusion has arisen from the effort to apply language used in some of the . . . decisions to cases in which the facts were entirely different from those in which [the language] was used.

*Lindler*, 81 S.E. at 513.

disregarded, that general expressions, in every opinion, are to be taken in connection with the case in which those expressions are used. If they go beyond the case, they may be respected, but ought not to control the judgment in a subsequent suit, when the very point is presented for decision.” (quoting *Cohens v. Virginia*, 19 U.S. (6 Wheat.) 264, 399, 5 L.Ed. 257 (1821))).

*Preservation Society of Charleston v. S.C. Dept. of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 430 S.C. 200, 224, 845 S.E.2d 481, 494 (2020).

From 1914 until immunity was abolished in 1981, the Court was asked three times to extend the exemption past liability for simple negligence. Three times it refused. *Peden v. Furman University*, 155 S.C. 1, 151 S.E. 907 (1930); *Eiserhardt v. State A&M Soc.*, 235 S.C. 305, 111 S.E.2d 568 (1959); and *Jeffcoat v. Caine*, 261 S.C. 77, 198 S.E.2d 258 (1973). No South Carolina charity has ever been granted immunity from liability for anything but simple negligence.

The court of appeals mistakenly applied the rule that “the abrogation of immunity defenses is to be applied prospectively only.” This Court abrogated nothing in *Jeffcoat*. The whole point of the *Jeffcoat* opinion was that immunity had never been extended to a case of intentional tort, “and we refuse to so extend the immunity doctrine.”

The court of appeals mistakenly thought that the Court in *Jeffcoat* “refused to overturn” its previous grant of immunity in negligence cases. The Court in *Jeffcoat* was asked to overturn nothing. Negligence immunity was not questioned or at issue in *Jeffcoat* in any way, shape, or form.<sup>6</sup>

In the portion of the *Jeffcoat* opinion quoted by the court of appeals, Justice Lewis summarized the Court’s conclusion that all previous mentions of general tort liability had been obiter dictum. The court of appeals quoted part of this Court’s *Jeffcoat* opinion:

---

<sup>6</sup> The briefs in *Jeffcoat* confirm that the plaintiff did not seek to abrogate negligence immunity, which was not at issue. The defendant charity did not contend that immunity had ever been granted in a case of intentional tort. The *Jeffcoat* briefs are available through the Reference Librarian at the Karesh Law Library. [https://sc.edu/study/colleges\\_schools/law/law\\_library/services/bench\\_bar.php](https://sc.edu/study/colleges_schools/law/law_library/services/bench_bar.php)

The foregoing are the prior decisions of this Court which are relevant to the present inquiry. There can be no doubt that the decisions in *Lindler*, *Vermillion*, and *Decker* contain broad general expressions to the effect that charitable institutions are exempt from all tort liability. However, the broad statement of a rule of complete exemption from tort liability was unnecessary to a decision in those cases, and the rule of charitable immunity has never been extended by our decisions beyond the facts in *Lindler*, *Vermillion*, and *Decker*. In fact, in *Eiserhardt* the immunity doctrine did not exempt the charity from liability for the negligent operation of a commercial enterprise and in *Peden*, liability was placed upon the charity for trespass and the creation of a nuisance.

These decisions point up the fact that this Court, while adhering in the past to the rule that charitable institutions are exempt from liability for mere negligence, has in every instance refused to further extend the rule. Therefore, the application of the immunity doctrine in a case of intentional tort is not required by precedent, nor, we conclude, by reason or justice.

A long discussion of the charitable immunity doctrine is unnecessary. It is sufficient to point out that it has been subject to much criticism in recent years and considered by an increasing number of courts and writers as unsupportable under modern conditions. See: 7 S.C.L.Q. 443; 19 S.C.L.Q. 191; 20 S.C.L.Q. 2; Prosser, *Law of Torts*, 4th ed., Section 13, p. 992; Annotation 25 A.L.R.2d 29.

Regardless of the public policy support, if there now be such, for a rule exempting a charity from liability for simple negligence, we know of no public policy, and none has been suggested, which would require the exemption of the charity from liability for an intentional tort; and we refuse to so extend the charitable immunity doctrine.

*Jeffcoat v. Caine*, 261 S.C. at 79-80, 198 S.E.2d at 251.

For some reason the court of appeals deleted from its quotation of the *Jeffcoat* opinion a vital sentence:

[I]n *Peden* [*v. Furman Univ.*, 155 S.C. 1, 151 S.E. 907 (1930)], liability was placed upon the charity for trespass and the creation of a nuisance.

Trespass and nuisance are intentional torts. *Snow v. City of Columbia*, 205 S.C. 544, 409 S.E.2d 797 (Ct. App. 1991) (trespass); *Brading v. County of Georgetown*, 327 S.C. 107, 490 S.E.2d 4 (1997) (nuisance). *Peden* was the only occasion before *Jeffcoat* when the Court was asked to extend immunity to a case of intentional tort. The Court refused.

## CONCLUSION

A charity was never immune from the normal rules of liability in South Carolina — or anywhere else — for its commission of an intentional tort.

There are many obstacles in the path of your petitioner's claim for what happened to him so long ago. As for his claims of intentional tort, however, charitable immunity is not one of them, as this Court so plainly held in *Jeffcoat v. Caine*. The court of appeals effectively overruled the holding of this nationally respected decision.

Your petitioner urges the Court to vindicate its decision in *Jeffcoat v. Caine* by reversing the court of appeals.