THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Jun 27 2024

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001491

John Doe,.....Petitioner,

v.

Bishop of Charleston, a Corporation Sole, and
The Bishop of the Diocese of Charleston, in his
official capacity,.....Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Richard S. Dukes, Jr. (SC Bar No.: 16563)
40 Calhoun Street, Suite 200
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
Telephone: 843-576-2810
Facsimile: 843-577-1646 (direct fax)
Email: RDukes@turnerpadget.com

R. Hawthorne Barrett (SC Bar No.:16973)
P.O. Box 1473
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
Telephone: 803-227-4219

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

For us to withdraw immunity from charitable institutions at this time, against the existing background of decisions of the court would, in effect, be an act of judicial legislation in the field of public policy. Whether some change in our rule is advisable is a question to be considered and resolved by the law making body.²⁵

Prior to 1973, the law of charitable immunity was controlled by *Lindler*, *Vermillion*, and *Decker*, all of which clearly held that charitable organizations could not be held liable for the torts or negligence of their officers, agents, or employees. Charitable organizations could be liable if they

²⁰ *Id.*

²¹ *Id.*, 235 S.C. at 312, 111 S.E.2d at 572.

²² *Decker v. Bishop of Charleston*, 247 S.C. 317, 324-25, 147 S.E.2d 264, 268 (1966). It is important to note that the site of the incident, the Cathedral of St. John the Baptist in Charleston, South Carolina, is a ministry of the Diocese of Charleston, whose civil law presence is through the Corporation Sole. There is no separate and distinct corporate entity.

²³ *Id.*

²⁴ *Id.*, 247 S.C. at 326, 146 S.E.2d at 269.

²⁵ *Id.*

created a nuisance on their property that deprived neighboring property owners of the use of their property without just compensation,²⁶ and charitable organizations could be liable in tort if a person suffered an injury in commercial ventures like paid parking lots.²⁷ Otherwise, the rule itself held firm – charities were immune from suit for the torts committed by individuals affiliated with the organization.

In 1973, years after the alleged abuse claimed in this case, *Jeffcoat v. Caine*²⁸ addressed an allegation that South Carolina Baptist Hospital could be liable for false imprisonment when its employees were acting within the course and scope of their job duties. The Court refused to overturn its precedents in *Lindler Vermillion* and *Decker*, and charitable immunity remained good law in South Carolina. The *Jeffcoat* Court’s discussion and apparent criticism of *Lindler* and *Vermillion* noted by Petitioner are nothing more than *dicta*, as the Court steadfastly refused to overturn charitable immunity that had existed for more than fifty years.²⁹ The Fourth Circuit noted in *Roe v. Bishop of Charleston* that the *Jeffcoat* court narrowed the broad doctrine of charitable

²⁶ *Peden v. Furman University*, 155 S.C. 1, 151 S.E. 907 (1930) (discussed in greater length below).

²⁷ *Eiserhardt, supra*.

²⁸ *Jeffcoat v. Caine*, 261 S.C. 75, 198 S.E.2d 258 (1973).

²⁹ At best, *Jeffcoat* may be considered a change in prior precedent regarding charitable immunity and, as such, its effect is solely prospective. It must be noted that under the doctrine of *respondeat superior* a master can only be liable to a third party for injuries caused by the tort of his servant committed within the scope of the servant's employment. *Froneberger v. Smith*, 406 S.C. 37, 748 S.E.2d 625 (Ct. App. 2013). “If a servant steps aside from the master's business for some purpose wholly disconnected with his employment, the relation of master and servant is temporarily suspended; and this is so no matter how short the time, and the master is not liable for his acts during such time.” *Kase v. Ebert*, 392 S.C. 57, 61–62, 707 S.E.2d 456, 458 (Ct.App.2011). “[S]exual harassment by a government employee is not within the employee's ‘scope of employment.’” *Frazier v. Badger*, 361 S.C. 94, 103, 603 S.E.2d 587, 591 (2004). An employee is acting in his individual capacity and not as an agent for the defendants when he commits sexual assault, even when that occurs in his own office. *Brockington v. Pee Dee Mental Health Ctr.*, 315 S.C. 214, 218, 433 S.E.2d 16, 18 (Ct.App.1993).

immunity to exclude intentional torts but that the *Jeffcoat* Court “did not . . . hold that the doctrine always excluded intentional torts.”³⁰

Four years later, in *Crowley v. Bob Jones Univ.*,³¹ the Court clarified its holding in *Jeffcoat* regarding charitable entities. *Crowley* involved allegations that Bob Jones was grossly negligent, reckless, and willful in failing to provide appropriate medical treatment to a minor who sustained a severe eye injury while performing duties required of students at an elementary school operated by the university. The Court held that, under the *Jeffcoat* decision, if the plaintiff could prove the defendant-organization itself committed an intentional tort, then the plaintiff could recover damages, even though the defendant was a charitable organization. The Court further confirmed that charitable immunity was an affirmative defense under which the charitable organization bore the burden of proof.

Jeffcoat and *Crowley* were issued several years after Petitioner’s alleged abuse. At the time of the events complained of, the doctrine of charitable immunity as stated in *Lindler* and *Vermillion* controlled, and a charitable organization was immune from suit for the torts of individuals affiliated with the organization. As *Vermillion* made clear, “the injured person has his remedy against the actual wrongdoer,” as opposed to the charitable organization itself. But the Court also recognized that though the wrongdoer may be “financially irresponsible, . . . [t]he law does not undertake to provide a solvent defendant for every wrong done.”³² The Court then provided several examples where an injury cannot be compensated under the law because of complete immunity, noting that

³⁰ *Roe v. Bishop of Charleston*, 2023 WL 3496326 at *3 (4th Cir. 2023).

³¹ *Crowley v. Bob Jones Univ.*, 268 S.C. 492, 234 S.E.2d 879 (1977).

³² *Vermillion*, 104 S.C. at 201, 88 S.E. at 650.

the State is “most deeply interested in the preservation of public charities.”³³ Thus, the Court’s strong affirmations of charitable immunity held firm at the time Petitioner alleges he was molested.³⁴

On the same day in 1977 the Supreme Court issued its decision in *Crowley*, it also issued *Brown v. Anderson Cnty. Hosp. Assoc.*³⁵ The defendant hospital was a charitable entity, and the plaintiff’s decedent was a patient at the time of his death, which resulted from a fire in his hospital room. The plaintiff alleged the fire and the hospital’s failure to protect the patient were due to the negligent and reckless acts of the hospital’s employees.

The *Brown* Court then engaged in a lengthy discussion of the public policy underpinning the doctrine of charitable immunity and the gradual erosion of the doctrine in other jurisdictions. Ultimately, the Court rejected the argument that charitable immunity should be abrogated.³⁶ Instead, the Court adopted an intermediate ground and abolished charitable immunity *only* “for a hospital’s heedless or reckless disregard for the plaintiff’s rights.”³⁷ The Court then added that “[w]e do not extend it so as to abrogate or modify the defense of charitable immunity as to churches, rescue missions, orphanages, colleges, and other institutions which are charitable in nature, purpose and operation.”³⁸

Not until 1981 did this Court abrogate the doctrine of charitable immunity.³⁹ However, the Court only did away with charitable immunity prospectively. The abrogation, like any other

³³ *Id.*, 104 S.C. at 102, 88 S.E. at 650.

³⁴ *Vermillion*, 104 S.C. at 201-2; 88 S.E. at 650.

³⁵ *Brown v. Anderson Cnty. Hosp. Assoc.*, 268 S.C. 479, 234 S.E.2d 873 (1977) (superseded by statute as stated in *Bergstrom v. Palmetto Health Alliance*, 358 S.C. 388, 596 S.E.2d 42 (2004)).

³⁶ *Id.*, 68 S.C. at 487, 234 S.E.2d at 876-77.

³⁷ *Id.*

³⁸ *Id.*

³⁹ *Fitzer v. Greater Greenville South Carolina YMCA*, 277 S.C. 1, 282 S.E.2d 230 (1981).

modification to charitable immunity, could not be applied retroactively.⁴⁰ Thus, a court applying South Carolina law must apply charitable immunity as it existed at the time of the allegedly tortious activity.⁴¹ For that reason, *Jeffcoat* and *Crowley* are simply inapplicable to Petitioner's claims since they were decided after Petitioner's alleged abuse.

As late as 1979, in *Douglass v. Florence Gen'l. Hosp.*, this Court reaffirmed the doctrine of charitable immunity for torts that occurred while the doctrine remained effective.⁴² The plaintiff initiated that case prior to the Court's decision in *Brown v. Anderson Cty. Hosp.*, though the case was pending when *Brown* was decided. The trial court dismissed plaintiff's complaint based upon charitable immunity and determined that *Brown* applied only prospectively and could not give life to plaintiff's claims. This Court affirmed that decision because *Brown* created liability where there had been none previously. Thus, in that case, Florence General Hospital was immune from suit for its employees' acts, even if heedless or reckless.⁴³ Clearly, therefore, changes to *Lindler*, like those in *Eiserhardt* or *Jeffcoat*, can only be applied prospectively.

In the present case, Petitioner's own allegations and testimony establish that his alleged abuse could only have taken place sometime in the fall of 1970. Therefore, the alleged abuse would have taken place when common law charitable immunity applied most broadly. As a result, Respondents are not to be held liable for the torts of its employees that occurred in 1970. Accordingly, summary judgment was appropriate.

⁴⁰ See *Hupman v. Erskine College*, 281 S.C. 43, 44, 314 S.E.2d 314, 315 (1984), *Hasell v. Medical Society of S.C.*, 288 S.C. 318, 342 S.E. 594, 595 (1986); see also *Brown v. Anderson Cty. Hosp.*, 268 S.C. 479, 234 S.E.2d 873 (1977) (modifying charitable immunity as to hospitals only to render them liable for heedless and reckless acts and prospectively only).

⁴¹ See *Laughridge v. Parkinson*, 304 S.C. 51, 403 S.E.2d 120, 120 (1991) (holding that charitable immunity law in existence at the time of tortious conduct in 1979 must be applied).

⁴² *Douglass v. Florence-Gen'l Hosp.*, 273 S.C. 716, 259 S.E.2d 117 (1979).

⁴³ *Douglass*, 273 S.C. at 720, 259 S.E.2d at 118.

As previously noted, what matters for purposes of the present appeal is the law of charitable immunity as it existed in 1970. At that time, *Jeffcoat* had not been decided, and prior to *Jeffcoat*, this Court had never held that charitable organizations could be liable for false imprisonment or any other intentional tort committed by its employees. To the contrary, South Carolina had always granted sweeping tort immunity to charities as a complete exception to the doctrine of *respondeat superior*. Thus, Petitioner’s argument that *Jeffcoat* represents the state of the law when his alleged abuse occurred is misplaced and incorrect. *Jeffcoat* was not the law of South Carolina in the years relevant here. *Jeffcoat* altered the common law in a manner that created liability where none had previously existed. Accordingly, *Jeffcoat* only affected future claims, and it is irrelevant to this appeal.

Even if Petitioner’s assertion that *Jeffcoat*’s exception to the doctrine of charitable immunity for intentional torts applied, summary judgment remains correct because, similar to *Roe v. Bishop of Charleston*, there is no evidence in the record of any intentional acts of Respondents’ intended to harm Petitioner.⁴⁴

b. *Peden v. Furman University* was limited to its facts and provides no basis for manufacturing *respondeat superior* liability for charitable entities.

Peden v. Furman, relied on by Petitioner, lends no support to his argument.⁴⁵ In *Peden*, this Court held that public charities could be liable for trespass and private nuisance arising out of their activities as lessors where it is proven that the affected landowner was deprived of the use of his land without just compensation.⁴⁶ Importantly, the Court noted that the dispute did not involve alleged

⁴⁴ *Roe v. Bishop of Charleston* 2023 WL 3496326 at *3. Respondent moved for summary judgment on Petitioner’s claim of outrage/intentional infliction of emotional distress, pointing out there was no evidence to support the essential elements of the claim. The record contains nothing to the contrary.

⁴⁵ 155 S.C. 1, 151 S.E. 907 (S.C. 1930)

⁴⁶ *Peden*, 155 S.C. at 1, 151 S.E. at 907.

tortious conduct by an employee of the charity and did not implicate *respondeat superior* in any respect.⁴⁷ Rather, the case involved Furman’s lessee, Municipal Athletic Corporation, which constructed a baseball stadium on Furman’s property. Peden owned neighboring property and suffered trespassers coming onto his property to retrieve baseballs, broken windows, his fences being torn down, shingles being torn from his roof, and a number of other issues. Because of the disruption caused by the baseball games, Peden had to move to another house and could not rent the property to anyone. The Court held that the trespass and private nuisance amounted to an unconstitutional taking of Peden’s property without just compensation. The Court further determined there was no public policy that exempted charitable organizations, or a county, or the State, from claims that the entity engaged in unconstitutionally taking of property without compensation.⁴⁸ The evidence in the case showed that Furman had engaged in an unreasonable use of its property that interfered with the comfort and enjoyment of Peden’s house and that the unreasonable use of the property drove Peden from his house and prevented him from enjoying the use of his property.⁴⁹ The Court determined it would be entirely unfair to permit that interference to go uncompensated.

c. *Picher v. Roman Catholic Bishop* is wholly inapplicable.

Petitioner relies on a case from another jurisdiction that he neither discussed in his previous appellate briefs nor referenced during oral arguments in the Court of Appeals. The Maine Supreme Court’s decision in *Picher v. Roman Catholic Bishop* has no bearing on the law in South Carolina – even less so the law as it existed in 1970.⁵⁰ In *Picher*, the Maine Supreme Court affirmed the dismissal of claims against the Diocese for negligent supervision, breach of fiduciary duty, and

⁴⁷ *Id.*, 155 S.C. at 13-14, 151 S.E. at 911.

⁴⁸ *Id.*

⁴⁹ *Id.*

⁵⁰ *Picher v. Roman Catholic Bishop*, 974 A.2d 286, 295 (Me. 2009)

canonical agency, and reversed only as to the claim that the Diocese fraudulently concealed its priest's known history of abusing minors. On remand, that claim was also dismissed on summary judgment based on a failure of proof.⁵¹

Although, the *Picher* Court discussed the evolution of charitable immunity in South Carolina, it did not state, or even imply, that the doctrine could not apply to intentional torts in South Carolina prior to our Supreme Court's decision in *Jeffcoat v. Caine* in 1973.⁵² To the contrary, the *Picher* Court referenced *Jeffcoat* as an example of the historical trend in other jurisdictions to chip away at the doctrine of charitable immunity over time. In that sense, the discussion in *Picher* supports the Court of Appeals' decision, as it agrees that *Jeffcoat* announced a new limitation on charitable immunity.

Petitioner also implies that *Picher*'s survey of other states' laws is an indication that no other jurisdictions have ever applied charitable immunity to intentional torts.⁵³ That is simply not the case. The *Picher* Court did not attempt an exhaustive review of the entire history of charitable immunity. Rather, the purpose of its survey was to determine the nationwide state and scope of that doctrine as it existed in 2009 when *Picher* was decided. Thus, it is reasonable and accurate to cite *Picher* as

⁵¹ *Picher v. Roman Catholic Bishop*, 82 A.3d 101 (Me. 2013)

⁵² 261 S.C. 75, 198 S.E.2d 258 (1973).

⁵³ Contrariwise, in *St. Clair v. Trustees of Boston University*, 25 Mass. App. Ct. 662, 665-666 (1988), the Massachusetts Appeals Court interpreted the Massachusetts charitable immunity statute imposing limits on tort claims against charities to include intentional torts such as slander and intentional interference with advantageous relations. In *Allison v. Mennonite Publications Board*, 123 F. Supp. 23, 26, 29 (W.D. Pa. 1954) the court held charitable immunity would have applied when a church engaged in libel but did not apply under the given facts because the church "invade[d] the commercial field and engage[d] in business." ("It is a doctrine too well established to be shaken, and as unequivocally declared in Pennsylvania as in any other state, that a public charity cannot be made liable for the tort of its servants.") In *Boardman v. Burlingame*, 123 Conn. 646, 647, 653 (1938) the Supreme Court of Errors of Connecticut held charitable immunity applied when a plaintiff was wrongfully detained at a mental institution.

support for the proposition that as of 2009 no other jurisdictions appeared to apply charitable immunity to intentional torts. But it is neither reasonable nor accurate to cite *Picher* for that same proposition as of 1970. The *Picher* Court never engaged in an analysis of the latter. Therefore, *Picher* has no bearing on this Court's decision.

II. AS AN ALTERNATE SUSTAINING GROUND, PETITIONER'S CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND MUST BE DISMISSED.

In addition to the reasons addressed in the preceding sections, Petitioner's claims are barred by the statute of limitations. His allegations that "his memory was repressed"⁵⁴ are unsupported by any admissible evidence. Plaintiff was born in 1957. He turned 18 in 1975. Thus, his claims lapsed no later than 1978. This action was not filed until August 29, 2018, more than forty years after the statute of limitations had run.

It is indisputable that South Carolina's three-year statute of limitations applies to this case.⁵⁵ Pursuant to the discovery rule, the limitations period commences when the facts and circumstances of an injury would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some claim against another party might exist. This standard as to when the limitations period begins to run is objective rather than subjective. Therefore, the statutory period of limitations begins to run when a person could or should have known, through the exercise of reasonable diligence, that a cause of action might exist in his or her favor, rather than when a person obtains

⁵⁴ Compl. ¶ 16, R. 21.

⁵⁵ See S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(1) and (5) (2005) (providing a three-year statute of limitations for "an action upon a contract, obligation, or liability, express or implied" and "an action for assault, battery, or any injury to the person or rights of another, not arising on contract and not enumerated by law"); *Cline v. J.E. Faulkner Homes, Inc.*, 359 S.C. 367, 371-72, 597 S.E.2d 27, 29 (Ct. App. 2004) (holding the three-year statute of limitations began to run on homeowner's negligence claim when he discovered his newly purchased modular home was damaged during delivery).

actual knowledge of either the potential claim or of the facts giving rise thereto.⁵⁶ This Court has interpreted the “exercise of reasonable diligence” to mean that “the injured party must act with some promptness” when on notice of a potential claim.⁵⁷ “Moreover, the fact that the injured party may not comprehend the full extent of the damage is immaterial.”⁵⁸ It takes very little to start the clock.

Both this Court and the Court of Appeals expressed deep concerns regarding so-called “repressed memory syndrome” in their decisions in *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*. As the Court of Appeals noted, under the theory of repressed memory syndrome, when an event occurs that is horrifically traumatic, the victim will attempt to cope by *completely* shutting the memory out.⁵⁹ In theory, repressed memory is not at all like the ordinary process of forgetting bad experiences or a person choosing not to think about them. Rather, when a memory is repressed, the theory is that, the person’s conscious mind will have no access to the circumstances and specific incidents that were traumatic.⁶⁰

As both Courts acknowledged, the theory of repressed memory syndrome was highly controversial among psychiatrists and psychologists. As this Court noted, there is no consensus among the psychological, medical, or legal communities regarding the validity of the theory of repressed memory.⁶¹ Critically, both Courts likewise recognized “the horrific possibility of false

⁵⁶ *Id.* at 525-26, 787 S.E.2d at 489-90 (citations and quotations omitted); *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-535 (2005) (“[A]ll actions initiated under Section 15-3-530(5) must be commenced within three years after the person knew or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known that he had a cause of action.”).

⁵⁷ *Dean v. Ruscon Corp.*, 321 S.C. 360, 363-64, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996).

⁵⁸ *Id.*

⁵⁹ *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 334 S.C. 150, 157-58, 511 S.E.2d 699, 703 (Ct. App. 1999).

⁶⁰ *Id.*, 344 S.C. at 158, 511 S.E.2d at 703.

⁶¹ *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 341 S.C. 320, 330, 534 S.E.2d 672, 677 (2000).

accusations” and that corroborating evidence is required because of “the disagreement among the psychological and medical communities about the validity of repressed memory syndrome, the danger a plaintiff’s memories could be faked or implanted during therapy, and the desire that a plaintiff not have the ability to control the running of the statute of limitations solely by allegations whose only support is contained within the plaintiff’s mind.”⁶² Because of these concerns, this Court requires that a plaintiff claiming repression must present both at the summary judgment stage and at trial: (1) objectively verifiable corroborating evidence of the fact of the abuse and (2) expert testimony to establish the both the abuse and the fact of the repressed memories.

Petitioner failed to present expert testimony to establish the abuse, the fact of the repressed memories, and that those memories were repressed between his 18th birthday – May 28, 1975⁶³ - until sometime after August 29, 2015 (three years prior to filing the Complaint). There was no expert testimony regarding repressed memory syndrome at all.⁶⁴ The medical records provided to Respondents do not contain any diagnosis of the condition. There is no evidence of when Petitioner lost all access to any memory of abuse or if that occurred. There is also no evidence of the accuracy of his present recollection. Nor is there is any admissible expert testimony that would satisfy the requirements set forth in *Moriarty*.

⁶² *Moriarty*, 534 S.E.2d at 680, citing *Roe v. Doe*, 28 F.3d 404, 408-09 (4th Cir. 1994) (suggesting that corroborative evidence of abuse and repressed memory should be required) (Hall, J., concurring); *Olsen v. Hooley*, 865 P.2d 1345, 1349-50 (Utah 1993) (requiring corroborating evidence because of concerns about the reliability of memory in general and revived memories in particular, and the difficulty of defending against claims of revived memories of sexual abuse long past); *S.V. v. R.V.*, 933 S.W.2d 1, 7-15 (Tex. 1996) (discovery rule applies in repressed memory case only when claim is “inherently undiscoverable” and “objectively verifiable” through corroborating evidence; court assumed plaintiff’s injury was inherently undiscoverable, but rejected application of discovery rule because she offered no corroborating evidence).

⁶³ S.C. Code Ann. § 15-1-320 changed the age of majority to 18 effective February 6, 1975.

In short, Petitioner failed to present admissible evidence that satisfied the heavy burden placed upon him by *Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*. His inability to satisfy that burden placed him in exactly the position that gave both this Court and the Court of Appeals such grave concern – the only evidence of “repressed memory” is self-reported by Petitioner. Such is precisely what the *Moriarty* Courts cautioned against. Having failed to satisfy his burden of establishing repressed memory syndrome, summary judgment is warranted even if Petitioner’s arguments about charitable immunity were accepted as correct. Therefore, the statute of limitations provides an alternative sustaining ground for the lower courts’ decisions.

III. AS AN ADDITIONAL ALTERNATE SUSTAINING GROUND, PETITIONER’S CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE PRECLUSIVE EFFECT OF RESPONDENTS’ 2007 CLASS ACTION SETTLEMENT AND MUST BE DISMISSED.

The record reflects the Diocese of Charleston entered into a Class Action Settlement of all potential claims that employees or priests of the Diocese sexually abused minors. On January 12, 2007 the Defendants entered into a Class Settlement Agreement to settle the claims of a class of people who alleged that they were sexually abused as minors by personnel of the Diocese Defendants.⁶⁵ The Settlement Agreement addressed the claims of two classes of individuals:

- All individuals born on or before August 30, 1980 who claim to have been sexually abused as minors by the Diocese of Charleston personnel (“primary class”) and-
- Those individuals’ spouses and parents (“consortium class”).

A Fairness Hearing was held before the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein, on March 9, 2007, and the Court finally approved the Settlement Agreement by Orders dated July 30, 2007 and August 31, 2007.⁶⁶ The Court determined that the proposed Class Settlement was fair to both the named

⁶⁵ R. 296.

⁶⁶ R. 376

class representatives and to the absent class members and that both the named plaintiffs and Class Counsel were adequate representatives of the class. The Court entered its judgment approving the settlement classes and ordered Class Counsel to notify the class of the settlement. The classes were “opt-out” classes, that is, if an individual satisfied the criteria of either class, he is automatically a class member, bound to the law of the case and the terms of the Settlement Agreement. An individual must have affirmatively “opted-out” by filing a Notice of Opt Out to preserve his rights to pursue an independent claim against the Defendants.

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